
 

 

  

    
 

 
 

 
 

   
 

Adam Harman, the New River, and Tom’s Creek: 
An Analysis of the Earliest Documentary Records 

Ryan S. Mays 
©2016 

The earliest surviving references to the New River, Tom’s Creek, and 
Euro-American settlement in the New River Valley of southwest Virginia 
appear in government treaties, court documents, and the private records of 
the region’s first explorers and surveyors. This article presents documentary 
evidence dating from 1744 that shows Adam Harman settled on the New 
River by June of that year. Although Euro-Americans undoubtedly visited 
the New River Valley as early as the late 1600s, no hard evidence of their 
having settled in the area before 1744 has yet come to light. Using primary 
source documentation, this article also discusses the naming of the New 
River and Tom’s Creek, the latter being one of the river’s tributaries in what 
is now Montgomery County, and also one of the first creeks named by Euro-
Americans in southwest Virginia. 

Evidence for Adam Harman on the New River (June 1744) 
Between 22 June and 4 July 1744, representatives of the Six Nations 

and other northern Indian tribes met at Lancaster, Pennsylvania, to 
conduct treaty negotiations with Lieutenant Governor George Thomas of 
Pennsylvania and commissioners from Virginia and Maryland, with the 
Pennsylvania government acting as intermediary. The commissioners from 
Virginia were Thomas Lee and William Beverley. Colonel James Patton (c. 
1690–1755) also attended the proceedings and signed the treaty made on 2 
July. The result of this meeting—to rectify disputes between the Indians 
and colonists over western frontier land— was the Indians’ renunciation of 
their claim to any land in the Colony of Virginia for the sum of £400.  

What has been called the official record of the Treaty of Lancaster 
negotiations and agreements was printed by Benjamin Franklin in 
Philadelphia in 1744. 1 However, William Parks printed a more complete 
version in Williamsburg, Virginia, the same year. Among letters sent to 
the Board of Trade in England from Virginia in 1744 was one “from Colo. 
[William] Gooch, Lieut. Govr. of Virginia, to the Board, dated the 21 of 
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Decbr. 1744, transmitting a great number of Publick Papers, A Treaty with 
the Indians for purchasing Land of them; his remarks on several Acts publick 
and private.” The copy of the treaty that Gooch sent to the board was that 
printed by William Parks.  Page 75 of Parks’ edition includes the following 
entry (see also Figure 1): 2 

The Indian Road as agreed to at Lancaster, June the 30th, 1744. The present 
Waggon Road from Cohongoronto above Sherrando River, through the 
Counties of Frederick and Augusta by Colonel James Wood’s, Jacob 
Tunk’s, Jost Hiti’s [Hite’s], Benjamin Allin’s, the Widow Givan’s, Colonel 
James Paton’s, Patrick Campbell’s, Patrick Haye’s, Gilbert Campbell’s, 
Robert Young’s Mill, Joseph Long’s, Robert Loney’s, George Robinson’s 
Mill, on Roanoke [River], to Adam Herman’s at Tom’s Creek on New 
River, above the Blue-Ridge; shall be the established Road, for the 
Indians our Brethren of the Six Nations, to pass to the Southward, when 
there is War between them and the Catawbas. 

Figure 1. This is the excerpt from William Parks’1744 printing 
of the Treaty of Lancaster proceedings, describing “Adam 
Herman’s at Tom’s Creek on New River” as the southern 
terminus of the Indian Road. The document is located in the 
Colonial Office Papers 5/1325 at the Public Record Office of 
Great Britain (The National Archives in Kew, London). 

This passage is not printed in Benjamin Franklin’s edition, and 
because the Franklin version rather than the Parks version of the treaty 
proceedings is most often cited by historians, this entry has apparently never 
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been recognized in the literature as containing the earliest mention of Euro-
American settlement on the Western Waters (tributaries of the Mississippi 
River) in Virginia. “Adam Herman’s [Harman’s] at Tom’s Creek on New 
River” is now indisputably the earliest known, unambiguous documentary 
record of a colonist settled in the New River Valley. It clearly refers to 

Figure 2. Map showing the area along the New River in present-day 
Montgomery County, Virginia, that was settled by Adam Harman and 
his family. The square in the upper left outlines the inset map shown 
in Figure 3 (page 58). Visible on this map about three miles south of 
the Harman settlement is the present-day City of Radford. The great 
“Horseshoe Bottom,” known by that name and occupied by Adam 
Harman’s close relative, Jacob Harman Sr., in the 1740s, is today the site 
of the Radford Army Ammunition Plant. Base map, U.S. Geological 
Survey, 7.5 minute series: Radford North, Virginia, 1998. 
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the Adam Harman (c.1700–1767) 3 who seems to have overseen the use of 
a natural ford over the New River about 1.5 miles west (down the river) 
from the mouth of Tom’s Creek (Figures 2, 3).4 The creek was simply a 
prominent landmark used to identify the locale in the Treaty proceedings. It 
is the author’s opinion that Harman and his family had built a cabin by June 
1744, probably at the present site of the James R. Kent plantation house, 
on a hill overlooking the vast New River bottomland at what is now called 
“Whitethorne” and “Kentland Farm” in present-day Montgomery County. 
The Kent brick mansion (built in the 1820s–1830s) replaced an earlier log 
house built in the 1790s by Abram Trigg,5 with that house possibly replacing 
or incorporating an earlier existing structure or the remnants thereof. 

Figure 3. Inset map showing the location of Adam Harman Sr.’s 
settlement. There is only one convenient place to ford Tom’s Creek 
at this locale, as indicated on the map. This was undoubtedly where 
the Indian Road crossed Tom’s Creek. The author has also marked the 
location of the ford across the New River and the possible location of 
Adam Harman’s house. Base map, U.S. Geological Survey, 7.5 minute 
series: Radford North, Virginia, 1998. 

58 



 

  

  

 

  

  

  

  

  
 

 

   
 

 
  

 
   

Adam Harman, the New River, and Tom’s Creek 

New/Wood’s River 
The few extant records dating from the 1740s and 1750s indicate that 

the New River was called New River and Wood’s River interchangeably 
and with about equal frequency. The earliest known record of the river’s 
being called the “New River” appears in the Treaty of Lancaster proceeding 
of 30 June 1744 (Figure 1). The name “New River” most likely derives from 
this river’s being a prominent newfound or “new” river, as it was west of 
the James and Roanoke Rivers upon which waters colonists settled when 
westward expansion began in earnest during the late 1730s and early 1740s.6 

Colonels John Buchanan (d. 1769) and James Patton called the New 
River both “New” and “Wood’s River” starting in the 1740s. For example, 
in his land entry book, John Buchanan noted in 1745 that he was agent 
for the “new River Company.”7 John Buchanan referred to the company as 
“Col. James Patton and Company” at least as early as November 1747,8  but 
he called the river “Wood’s River” on the title page of his 1745 journal of 
his tour of the settlement.9 Similarly, on a paper included with Buchanan’s 
copy of the 1746 terms of the company’s 100,000-acre grant of April 1745, 
Patton wrote: “A booke of Entreys & other Papers Belonging to the new 
River Grante on the waters of the Misisipioa on the fronteire of Virginia in 
North America 1749.”10 When Dr. Thomas Walker (1715–1794) reached 
the river on 16 March 1750 during his exploratory expedition for his own 
Loyal Land Company, he called it the “New River.”11 

The earliest reference to the New River by the name “Wood’s River,” 
and possibly the oldest surviving record of the river itself, is found in 
the Virginia Council’s decision of 25 October 1743 on James Patton and 
Company’s petition for 200,000 acres.12 The explorer John Peter Salling 
(Sally) had reached the New River in March 1741/42 [1742]13 as a member 
of the John Howard expedition. In his account of the expedition, apparently 
written after his return in the spring of 1745, Sally noted that his party killed 
five buffalos at “Mondongachate now called Woods River.”14 

Following the Treaty of Lancaster, Governor Gooch held a council 
meeting on 6 August 1744 in Williamsburg. The report of the meeting states: 

This day was read the Treaty concluded at Lancaster by the Honble 
Thomas Lee Esqr. & Colonel William Beverley on the behalf of this 
Colony with the six united Nations of Indians & their Release of all 
their Right to all the Lands within this Colony And it was Order’d that 
that part of it relating to the Roads agreed to be printed in the Publick 
Gazette and all Persons required to take due Notice thereof and pay a 
strict Obedience thereto.15 
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At a court held in Frederick County on 5 March 1744/45 [1745], it 
was “[o]rdered that Robert Green Gent. & John Newport petition the Court 
of Orange County for a Road from the County line of Frederick to the upper 
Inhabitants of Augusta on Woods River.”16 A directive written by Colonel 
John Buchanan, probably also in March 1744/45, reads as follows: 

Memorandam That you motion to ye court of orange To appoaint 
Proper Men To nominate and appoaint certian persons To Lea 
[lay] off and survey a Road from fredrick county Through Augusta 
crossing James River at ye Chrerey [Cherry] tree Bottom thence 
[illegible] [Egle Bottom—marked out in the document] to woods 
River at the most convanint [convenient] place of passing. N.B. That 
Colo. Patton survey & Lay off from fredrick to Burdens [Benjamin 
Borden’s?] Line and Colo. Buchanan Lea off from thence to woods 
River &c.17 

Wood’s River was also mentioned in the proceedings of an Orange 
County Court held on 24 May 1745: 

James Patton and John Buchanan Gent. having viewed the way from 
Frederick County Line Through the Part of this County called Augusta 
according to the order made at the Last March Court made 
their Report in these words ‘Pursuant to an Order of Orange Court 
dated the Thirteenth Day of March 1745 [1744/45] We the Subscribers 
have viewed laid of[f] and Marked the said road mentioned in the 
said Order as followeth Viz. To begin at Thom’s Brook at Frederick 
County line and to go from thence…to a ford at the Cherry tree 
Bottom on James River…and that the said Road continue from the 
said Cherry tree Bottom to Adam Harmon’s on the New or Woods 
River and that Capt. George Robinson and James Campbell and Mark 
Evins and James Davison be Overseers of the same and that all the 
Inhabitants between James River and Woods River clear the same 
and that a Distinct Order be Given to Every Gang to Clear the same 
and that it be Cleared as it is already Blazed and laid of[f] with Two 
Notches and a Cross Given under our hands this 8th Day of April 1745 
James Patton – John Buchannon’ whereupon it is Ordered that the 
said way be from henceforth established a Publick Road.18 
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The previously mentioned Frederick and Orange (later Augusta) 
County road orders of March 1744/45 all use the name “Wood’s River.” 
A few years later, the Ohio Company explorer Christopher Gist (c. 1705– 
1759) referred to the river as the “Kanhawa or new river (by some called 
Woods river)” when he passed through the New River Valley in May 1751.19 

There seems to be no extant historical record providing an explanation 
for the origin of the name “Wood’s River.” One possibility is that it was 
named for Major General Abraham Wood (c.1615–c.1681).20 In September 
1671, Wood sent Thomas Batte, Robert Hallam, and Thomas Wood west 
from Fort Henry in the Tidewater of Virginia to explore the western 
mountains and search for a passage to the “South Sea.” Thomas Wood died 
early in the expedition, but Batte and Hallam apparently reached the New 
River in what is now southwest Virginia.21 It is thus not unreasonable to 
assume that at least by the early 1700s the river that Batte and Hallam had 
found and reported was becoming better known to Indian traders and other 
intrepid explorers. Perhaps a tradition had developed of calling it “Wood’s 
River” for the sponsor of the Batte and Hallam expedition, even though no 
evidence has been found that Abraham Wood himself ever saw it. It may 
even be that Thomas Batte and Robert Hallam named the river to honor 
either Abraham Wood or their exploration party member, Thomas Wood, 
who had died early in the expedition. 

Another possible explanation is that the river was named for Colonel 
James Wood (c.1707–1759), clerk and surveyor of Orange and later 
Frederick County, and the founder of Winchester, Virginia.22 Wood was a 
friend of James Patton and John Buchanan and also a prominent member of 
the 21-member New/Wood’s River Company, as evidenced, for example, 
by Buchanan’s notation on his bill against the company “[t]o view the Land 
pr order of Colo. Patton & Colo. [James] Wood Before ye order of Council 
was obtained” in 1743.23 Moreover, in the 1746 terms of the New River 
Company, James Wood’s name appears alongside those of James Patton, 
John Buchanan, and George Robinson, suggesting that he was a leading 
member, since these were the only members specifically listed by name.24 

The river had undoubtedly been known to at least some eastern and central 
Virginians for some time, but it may not have been until the early 1740s that 
the westernmost inhabitants of Orange and Augusta counties named it in 
honor of James Wood, a county magistrate held in high esteem. Although 
this suggestion is entirely speculation, it is worth considering. 
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Tom’s Creek 
The person for whom Tom’s Creek was named is even more difficult 

to identify. That the creek was already called “Tom’s Creek” in June 1744 
might indicate that an explorer or settler named Tom had preceded or was 
a contemporary of Adam Harman. John Buchanan’s 1745 entry of land for 
Adam Harman at “Toms pleace” [Tom’s Place], presumably along Tom’s 
Creek, hints that someone named Tom had some affiliation with the locale.25 

This is not necessarily the case, however. Places at the time probably were 
not always named for people who had actually discovered or settled them; 
the names of friends and acquaintances were no doubt often used. 

Patricia Givens Johnson’s speculation that Tom’s Creek was named 
for Thomas Jones, the grandson of Abraham Wood,26 is unsubstantiated. 
This speculation apparently hinged on Lyman Chalkley’s abstract of the 
circa 1750 lawsuit Michael and Augustine Price vs. Israel Lorton and James 
Patton.27 In fact, Chalkley misread attorney John Harvie’s handwriting and 
deciphered as a “J” what Harvie had clearly written as a “T” in Tom’s Creek 
throughout the case documents. Chalkley therefore mistakenly wrote in 
1912 that Israel Lorton had bought a tract of 400 acres “at [the] mouth of 
Jones (Toms) Creek.”28 Furthermore, none of the surviving early records 
from this period ever referred to Tom’s Creek as Jones Creek. If Tom’s 
Creek had been named for anyone associated with Abraham Wood, it would 
most likely have been either Thomas Batte or Thomas Wood, two of the 
three men who led the 1671 exploratory expedition that may or may not 
have encountered the creek. 

The only other reasonable possibilities with regard to Tom’s Creek 
seem to be the names Thomas Looney, Thomas Deleney, Thomas Walker, 
and Thomas Lewis. Possibly one of these men was the enigmatic Tom. 
Thomas Looney (c. 1718–1755?) may have lived somewhere in the New 
River Valley at least as early as 1746.29 He appears to have been the son-
in-law of Adam Harman Sr., having married one of Harman’s daughters 
about 1735–1739.30 A man named “Thomas Deleney” served as a chain 
carrier for John Buchanan on his 1743 exploratory and surveying expedition 
into southwest Virginia. 31 Dr. Thomas Walker was an early explorer and 
surveyor of western Virginia and was well known to James Patton and John 
Buchanan, although he was not a member of the New River Company.32 

Finally, Thomas Lewis (1718–1790), Surveyor of Augusta County, while 
also not a company member, could conceivably have visited or even surveyed 
land on the western waters in the early 1740s. More importantly, however, 
Lewis’close affiliation with Patton, Buchanan, other company members, and 
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probably some of the first New River settlers, is significant. James Patton 
once referred to him as “[T]om Lewis.”33 But like so many mysteries of the 
early frontier period, the truth of this matter may never be known. 

Summary 
This article has presented documentary evidence that Adam Harman 

Sr. was settled along the New River in what is now Montgomery County, 
Virginia, by June 1744, the earliest known record of any settler living in the 
New River Valley. However, because records from the early 1740s with 
references to the Virginia backcountry are scarce, it remains possible that 
other settlers preceded Harman by several years. Furthermore, it seems 
possible that Harman and his family travelled to the New River Valley with 
other settlers whose names are unknown. The author has also examined 
documentation from the 1740s and early 1750s to help speculate on the 
origins of the names New River, Wood’s River, and Tom’s Creek, which 
are among the earliest names Euro-Americans gave to watercourses in 
southwest Virginia. The names New River and Tom’s Creek have survived 
to the present day. 
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Endnotes 
Abbreviations and symbols: 
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CO = Colonial Office 
DM = Lyman C. Draper Manuscript Collection (Draper Manuscripts), State Historical Society of 

Wisconsin, Madison, Wisconsin.  Microfilmed by the Department of Photographic 
Reproduction, University of Chicago Library 

FCCH = Frederick County Courthouse, Winchester, Virginia 
FHS = Filson Historical Society, Louisville, Kentucky 
LC = Library of Congress, Washington, D.C. 
LVA = Library of Virginia, Richmond, Virginia 
MCCH = Montgomery County Court House, Christiansburg, Virginia 
OCCH = Orange County Courthouse, Orange, Virginia 
QQ = Series QQ, Draper Manuscripts, Preston Papers. Citations include the series between 

volume and page number (i.e. 1QQ38). 
PP-DM = Preston Papers, Draper Manuscripts, State Historical Society of Wisconsin 
PP-VHS = Papers of the Preston Family of Virginia (Preston Family Papers), 1727–1896, Mss1   
   P9267f, Virginia Historical Society, Richmond, Virginia.  Microfilmed by the Library of Congress 
PRO = Public Record Office, Great Britain. 
VHS = Virginia Historical Society, Richmond, Virginia 
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